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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
---------------------------------------------------------------x  
         
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA   :  
        
           -v.-                :     17 Cr. 684 (ER) 

 
EMANUEL RICHARDSON,    : 
        
                     Defendant.  : 
        
---------------------------------------------------------------x 
 

THE GOVERNMENT’S SENTENCING MEMORANDUM 

 

 Defendant Emanuel Richardson is scheduled to be sentenced on Thursday, June 6, 2019, 

at 11:00 a.m.  The Government respectfully submits this memorandum in connection with that 

sentencing and in response to the defendant’s sentencing memorandum (Dkt. No. 237) (“Def. 

Mem.”).   

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The defendant abused his role as a men’s basketball coach and mentor to student-athletes 

by accepting multiple cash bribes – totaling $20,000 – in exchange for steering these athletes to 

retain the services of co-defendant Christian Dawkins upon turning pro.  Instead of prioritizing 

his student-athletes’ best interests, Richardson sought to profit from them, treating the student-

athletes that he coached as assets that he could control for his own benefit.  Richardson agreed to 

steer certain of the student-athletes that he coached to Dawkins and his newly formed company, 

not because he believed that they were talented or reputable advisors who would best safeguard 

the athletes’ newfound wealth, but because he was being paid to do so.  As Richardson well 

knew, Dawkins had been a runner for a major sports agency firm until having been recently fired 

due to allegations of misusing an NBA player’s credit card, and had no experience as an athlete-
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advisor.  Although the student-athletes were not the legal victims of the bribery scheme, they 

were unquestionably intended to be harmed by the defendant’s conduct, which jeopardized not 

simply their collegiate careers but their ability to make one of the most important decisions of 

their future professional careers. 

Richardson’s conduct not only victimized the student-athletes that he coached.  It also 

victimized the University of Arizona, which employed him.  Regardless of whether one agrees or 

disagrees with the NCAA rules, Richardson undoubtedly had a duty to follow those rules and to 

ensure that the University of Arizona’s men’s basketball program abided by them.  His 

acceptance of bribes in order to steer University of Arizona men’s basketball players flagrantly 

violated those rules in myriad ways, and were a very clear breach of his duties to the University 

of Arizona, exposing it to potentially significant adverse consequences.     

In light of all of these considerations, and as is described in further detail below, the 

Government respectfully submits that a sentence within the applicable Guidelines range of 18 to 

24 months’ imprisonment is appropriate and sufficient but not greater than necessary to promote 

the legitimate ends of sentencing. 

BACKGROUND 

A. The Defendant and the Offense Conduct 

The defendant was an assistant coach of the University of Arizona’s men’s basketball 

team from in or about 2009 until his arrest on September 26, 2017. (PSR ¶ 41).  In or about 

March 2017, Richardson and Munish Sood – a financial advisor working with Christian Dawkins 

– met in Las Vegas for the first time.  Thereafter, Richardson and Sood spoke by phone in April 

2017, during which call Sood (who was not at that time yet cooperating with the Government) 

offered to provide financial assistance to Richardson in connection with Richardson’s financial 

needs. (PSR ¶ 60).   
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After Dawkins was terminated by ASM Sports following allegations coming to light that 

he misused a client’s credit card (PSR ¶ 61), Dawkins, Sood and a third investor known as Jeff 

D’Angelo, who in reality was an undercover agent (“UC-1”), started a new sports management 

company called Loyd Inc. (PSR ¶ 64).  During conversations between Dawkins, Sood, and UC-

1, among others, Dawkins proposed that Richardson would be a good assistant basketball coach 

for the company to pay to steer them players, and that working with Richardson would make 

sense because Richardson had access to top 10 NBA draft picks every year.  (GX 508AT; 

Complaint ¶ 87).1   

Thereafter, Dawkins arranged for Richardson to meet with Sood, UC-1, and others in 

Manhattan on or about June 20, 2017. (PSR ¶ 66).  During a telephone call in advance of that 

meeting, Dawkins and Richardson discussed that Dawkins anticipated UC-1 would have $5,000 

for Richardson at the meeting.  Richardson and Dawkins also discussed a high school player that 

Richardson needed money to recruit during this call. (PSR ¶ 65; GX 101T).  At the meeting, 

Richardson received the $5,000 cash bribe payment as Dawkins had advised him would occur.  

During the discussion at the June 20, 2017 meeting, Richardson stated, among other things, that 

he could guarantee a particular player on the University of Arizona team, Rawle Alkins, would 

sign with Dawkins and his new company and that Richardson was willing to direct certain 

players that he coached to retain the services of Dawkins and the new company. (PSR ¶ 66; GX 

509B1T-509B4T).  For example, when discussing an incoming freshman on the University of 

Arizona’s men’s basketball team, De’Andre Ayton, Richardson stated “it’s not about well, hey, 

we’re gonna be one of three.  Excuse my expression, fuck that. Deandre, this is what you’re 

                                                           

1 Unless otherwise noted, GX references are to Government Exhibits admitted into evidence in 
the trial of United States v. Christian Dawkins and Merl Code, (S1) 17 Cr. 684 (ER). Transcript 
references, unless otherwise noted, are to the trial transcript.   
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doing.” (GX 509B1T).  Richardson further promised to put the group in direct contact with the 

players that he coached so that they could ultimately succeed in recruiting them as clients when 

the players turned pro. (GX 509B2T).  In addition, Richardson touted his influence with his 

players as a result of his role as an assistant coach, specifically talking about how he could “take 

the risk out of the room because, guess what, I’m with them all the time” (GX 509B1T), and that 

his players were “always gonna defer to [him]” and that “if a question is asked, they’re gonna 

look at me . . . I’m like – that’s what they know.” (GX 509B3T).   

After the June 20, 2017 meeting, Richardson quickly requested more money from 

Dawkins and his new company.  In particular, Richardson sought $15,000 from Dawkins in or 

about early July 2017.  Richardson informed Dawkins that he needed this money in order to 

provide it to the mother of a top high school basketball player, Jahvon Quinerly, so that the 

player would commit to attending the University of Arizona. (Complaint ¶ 91; GX 114).  

Dawkins thereafter relayed this request to Sood and UC-1, who agreed to provide the money in 

exchange for Richardson’s effort to steer Quinerly to sign with Dawkins and his new company.  

(Complaint ¶ 92; GX 142).  Dawkins and UC-1 spoke about the fact that this $15,000 payment 

would represent three months of $5,000 monthly payments that had been promised to 

Richardson.  Dawkins thereafter conveyed to Richardson that UC-1 would provide the $15,000 

that Richardson had requested, and Richardson agreed that this sum would represent 3 months’ 

worth of his monthly payments and that he would start receiving payments again in October. 

(GX 114T) (“Do that, and then like I said, then let’s start something like July, August September, 

you know, October, if you want.”).   

On or about July 20, 2017, Richardson travelled to Sood’s office in New Jersey, where he 

was handed the $15,000 cash bribe that he had previously requested.  During this meeting, 
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Richardson discussed with Sood and UC-1, among other things, that going forward he would no 

longer give his players options in terms of which advisor to select, and that he would use his 

influence to direct these players just to sign with one advisor – Dawkins’ new company.  

(Complaint ¶ 94; GX 511B5T).  Richardson discussed specific players with UC-1 and Sood that 

Richardson promised to steer to Dawkins and the new company.  At the time Richardson was 

paid the $15,000, UC-1 confirmed with him that they would treat the money as three months’ 

worth of the $5,000 monthly payments they had agreed he would be receiving going forward. 

(Complaint ¶ 94; GX 511B6T).  On or about August 9, 2017, Quinerly publicly committed to 

attend the University of Arizona. (Complaint ¶ 95).  

A few weeks later, on or about August 30, 2017, Richardson met with Dawkins, Sood, 

and another individual posing as UC-1’s business partner (“UC-2”), who was, in reality, an 

undercover agent near the campus of the University of Arizona.  During this meeting, 

Richardson and Dawkins discussed how Richardson needed to be assertive in directing a player 

on the University of Arizona basketball team, Rawle Alkins, to sign with Dawkins’ new 

company: 

DAWKINS: Yeah, he's fucking clueless, clueless. But that's good 
for us because (U/I), I showed him a breakdown of everything, if he 
can -- I think that he'll do what you tell him to do. 

RICHARDSON: He will. 

DAWKINS: I think that he'll do exactly -- you have to be very 
specific with him, very clear cut, like to the point where you're 
almost talking to like a three-year-old. 

(GX 518BT).  Richardson again promised during this meeting to use his influence as a coach to 

steer his players to sign with Dawkins. (Complaint ¶  99). 

 During this same trip, as arranged for by Richardson, UC-2, Sood, and Dawkins also met 

with a cousin and “handler” of Alkins.  UC-2 thanked Richardson for facilitating this meeting, 
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and Richardson responded, “I did my job.” (Tr. 879:25 - 880:13).  Thereafter, as had been 

arranged by Richardson, Dawkins, Sood, and UC-2 met with the cousin and “handler” of Alkins.  

During that meeting, Alkins’ cousin indicated, in substance and in part, that Richardson had 

recommended to the cousin that Alkins should work with Dawkins and his new company.  (Tr. 

882:10-20; see also Complaint ¶ 100).2   

On or about September 26, 2017, Richardson, Dawkins, and others were charged and 

arrested for various offenses, including bribery.  Richardson was immediately put on paid 

administrative leave, and was eventually terminated for cause by the University of Arizona.   In 

or about October 2017, Jahvon Quinerly, who had originally committed to the University of 

Arizona in August 2017, decommitted and later chose to attend a different university.     

B. The Charges and the Defendant’s Guilty Plea 

Indictment 17 Cr. 684 (ER) charged Richardson, Dawkins, Merl Code and two other 

coaches in multiple counts with participation in the bribery scheme described above.  On January 

22, 2019, the defendant pleaded guilty to Count One of the Indictment, which charged 

conspiracy to commit bribery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, and he also agreed to forfeiture of 

$20,000.  On May 8, 2019, after a two and half week trial, a jury found co-defendants Dawkins 

and Code guilty of conspiracy to commit bribery, and Dawkins guilty of the substantive crime of 

bribery. 

C. The Applicable Guidelines 

As set forth in the parties’ plea agreement and by the Probation Office, the base offense 

level is 12; a two level increase is warranted pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2C1.1(b)(1) because the 

                                                           

2 Richardson claims in his submission that he “never recommended the co-defendants’ firm” to 
either Quinerly or Alkins. (Def. Mem. at 6).  This is belied by the trial record and what Alkins’ 
cousin told Dawkins, Sood, and UC-2 during their meeting in August 2017. 
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offense involved more than one bribe; a four-level increase is warranted pursuant to 

§ 2C1.1(b)(2) because the value of the payments made to Richardson exceeded $15,000 but was 

less than $40,000; and a three-level decrease is warranted pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a) and 

(b) due to the defendant’s acceptance of responsibility, resulting in a total offense level of 15. 

(PSR ¶ 88-98).  The defendant has zero criminal history points and is in Criminal History 

Category I. (PSR ¶ 101).  Accordingly, the applicable Guidelines range is 18 to 24 months’ 

imprisonment. (PSR ¶ 135). 

DISCUSSION 

As the Court is aware, the Sentencing Guidelines still provide strong guidance to 

sentencing courts following United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005), and United States v. 

Crosby, 397 F.3d 103 (2d Cir. 2005).  Because the Guidelines are “the product of careful study 

based on extensive empirical evidence derived from the review of thousands of individual 

sentencing decisions,” Gall v. United States, 552 U.S. 38, 46 (2007), district courts must treat the 

Guidelines as the “starting point and the initial benchmark” in sentencing proceedings.  Id. at 49.  

After that calculation, however, the Court must consider the seven factors outlined in Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 3553(a), which include the nature and circumstances of the offense, 

the history and characteristics of the defendant, the need to adequately deter criminal conduct 

and promote respect for the law, and the need to protect the public from further crimes of the 

defendant.  Id. at 50 & n.6. 

Here, a Guidelines sentence is appropriate and would meet the objectives set forth in 18 

U.S.C. § 3553(a), given (1) the nature and circumstances of the offense and the history and 

characteristics of the defendant; and (2) the need for the sentence imposed (A) to reflect the 

seriousness of the offense, to promote respect for the law, and to provide just punishment for the 
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offense; and (B) to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1), 

(2)(A)-(B). 

A. The Nature and Seriousness of the Offense 

Richardson’s offense was undoubtedly serious.  Richardson accepted multiple bribes 

totaling approximately $20,000, and expected to continue to receive $5,000 monthly bribes 

going forward, which never occurred due to his September 2017 arrest.  In return for this money, 

he agreed to use his influence as a coach at the University of Arizona to steer his young players 

to sign with Dawkins and his company.  Richardson did not just agree to do this – he actually 

began to take action in return for the money he received, including by facilitating a meeting for 

Dawkins, Sood, and UC-2 with the cousin and handler for Rawle Akins and, according to the 

handler, vouching for and advocating for Alkins to sign with Dawkins’ new company.  

Richardson undoubtedly was taking these steps because he was being paid by Dawkins and his 

business associates to do so, unbeknownst to Alkins or his cousin.   

By accepting these bribes and acting to steer his players in exchange for them, 

Richardson betrayed the interests of the young student-athletes that he coached.  These were 

players that Richardson was expected to mentor, not to exploit for his own personal profit.  Yet 

during recorded meeting after recorded meeting, Richardson openly discussed using the role he 

played as a coach and mentor to his players in order to influence and steer them to sign with 

Dawkins, a man who had no experience as a sports agent and had recently been terminated from 

his prior agency due to allegations of misusing a client’s funds.  As described above, rather than 

acknowledge his responsibility to help advise young student-athletes under his charge, 

Richardson, in order to secure bribe money from Dawkins and UC-1, was recorded bragging 

about how he could simply tell those student-athletes who to sign with because they trusted him.  
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Moreover, Richardson implicated the eligibility of these players to compete in NCAA 

competition unbeknownst to the players. 

Equally importantly, Richardson betrayed the duties that he owed to his employer.  His 

actions were clear cut and serious NCAA rules violations and violations of his university’s 

policies.  Richardson’s desire to profit for himself exposed the University of Arizona to 

significant adverse consequences, some of which the university has already felt and others that 

may still come in the form of NCAA penalties and sanctions.  As is detailed in the University of 

Arizona’s victim impact statement (annexed hereto as Exhibit 1), Richardson’s conduct has 

already caused significant harm to the university, including causing multiple recruits to the 

Arizona men’s basketball team to decommit: 

[N]ews of the criminal charges against Mr. Richardson caused enormous 
pain and disruption not only to the University’s men’s basketball team but 
across the entire campus, as well. Mr. Richardson’s actions have caused – 
and continue to cause – significant damage to the reputation of the 
University, its athletics program, and most specifically to a men’s basketball 
program that had previously enjoyed a stellar record of success, on and off 
the court. Several highly regarded student-athletes de-committed from the 
University upon hearing this difficult news, and the recruitment effort for 
future players became substantially more challenging . . . . The University 
is also facing the prospect of potentially significant sanctions and penalties 
from the NCAA flowing from the unlawful actions involved in this case. 
 

(Exhibit 1, at 2).  The University of Arizona has also had to hire outside legal counsel in 

connection with the criminal case, as well as to hire legal counsel to address the investigation 

being conducted by the NCAA Enforcement staff as a result of Richardson’s activities. (Id.). 

In his submission, Richardson tries to minimize the seriousness of his conduct in multiple 

respects.  First, despite the obvious fact that his conduct will result in the NCAA ultimately 

imposing sanctions against the University of Arizona, Richardson claims that he “did not intend 

to harm the University of Arizona in any way” and notes that “the NCAA has not imposed any 
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monetary fines or other penalties upon Arizona or any other university involved in the case.” 

(Def. Mem. at 10-11).  Of course, as Richardson’s counsel well knows, the NCAA has yet to 

impose sanctions on any of the universities who had coaches accept bribes and, in fact, the 

NCAA deferred conducting its own investigation and imposing penalties until after the federal 

criminal cases had concluded.  As is noted in the University of Arizona’s victim impact 

statement, the NCAA’s investigation is “just now getting underway in the aftermath of the 

criminal trial.” (Exhibit 1, at 2).  Future penalties could include, among other things, limitations 

on a university’s participation in postseason play; financial penalties including requirements that 

an institution pay a fine, return revenue received from a specific athletics event or series of 

events, or reductions in or elimination of monetary distribution by the NCAA; limitations on the 

number of athletic scholarships that may be provided by the university to student-athletes in the 

future; and recruiting restrictions including restrictions on the ability to conduct off-campus 

recruiting activities. (PSR ¶ 34).  For these reasons, Richardson’s claim that he did not intend to 

harm the University is, at best, misleading; while he may have hoped never to get caught and 

thereby risk harm to the University, Richardson – with vast experience in NCAA basketball – 

was well aware of what would or could happen were his bribery scheme exposed, and acted in 

spite of this. 

Second, Richardson claims that “the two student athletes that Mr. Richardson was 

supposed to refer to Dawkins’ agency have never been suspended or ruled ineligible by the 

NCAA,” that he “never gave them the money and did not jeopardize their careers in basketball.” 

(Def. Mem. at 10)(emphasis added).  It is not clear why Richardson pocketing the $20,000 in 

bribe money entirely for himself makes his conduct less egregious, but even if that is what 

happened, the mere fact that Richardson accepted this money and told others that at least certain 
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portions of it would be provided to the family members of these players in and of itself exposed 

these players to significant eligibility issues.  An assistant coach telling third parties – and in 

particular agents and advisors seeking to recruit a player – that he was paying these players’ 

families in order to recruit them certainly exposed the players to significant risks, including the 

risk of loss of eligibility and athletic scholarship.  That the NCAA never suspended these players 

or deemed them ineligible does not mean that Richardson did not expose the players to the risk 

that this would occur. 

B. Deterrence 

Second, and beyond the seriousness of the offense, deterrence militates in favor of a 

Guidelines sentence.  While the Government is prepared to accept Richardson’s representation 

that further specific deterrence is unnecessary, general deterrence, in particular, is an important 

factor that the Court should consider in imposing sentence.  Indeed, as Richardson notes in his 

own submission (Def. Mem. at 11-12), and as the series of cases charged by the Government in 

September 2017 makes abundantly clear, there is reason to believe that others in college 

basketball may be engaged in similar conduct.  This Court should send a strong message to other 

college men’s basketball coaches that accepting bribes in order to steer student-athletes to 

particular agents and advisors is harmful, criminal conduct that will result in actual prison time, 

and is not a mere NCAA rules violation.  The non-custodial sentence proposed by Richardson 

would simply be inadequate to promote the interests of general deterrence. 

The fact that the payments to Richardson – all of which were in cash – are extremely 

difficult for universities and the NCAA to detect should also be considered by this Court in 

imposing sentence.  See United States v. Heffernan, 43 F.3d 1144, 1149 (7th Cir. 1994) (Posner, 

J.) (“Considerations of (general) deterrence argue for punishing more heavily those offenses that 
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either are lucrative or are difficult to detect and punish, since both attributes go to increase the 

expedited benefits of a crime and hence the punishment required to deter it.”); see also United 

States v. Zukerman, 897 F.3d 423, 429 (2d Cir. 2018) (same). 

With respect to deterrence, Richardson argues that his own public humiliation (including 

the fact his case was widely reported in the sports media), his loss of employment, and the fact 

he will likely never work again in college basketball are sufficient to promote deterrence. (Def. 

Mem. at 12).  But of course, the fact that Richardson lost his job for committing a crime – 

particularly one that so adversely impacted his former employer – is unremarkable and is 

indistinguishable from numerous other white collar cases, and specifically bribery offenses 

involving private sector actors.   

The Government does not dispute that Richardson has suffered collateral consequences 

as a result of this prosecution.  However, collateral consequences for white-collar defendants are 

commonplace and do not, in and of themselves, justify a non-custodial sentence.  If this were not 

so, then most white-collar defendants would never see the inside of a jail cell.  Many courts over 

the years have recognized that the mere fact that a defendant has more to lose as a result of his 

position in society does not, in and of itself, justify a lesser sentence, and that giving such an 

argument undue weight would unfairly favor white-collar criminals above others.  See United 

States v. D’Amico, 496 F.3d 95, 107 (1st Cir. 2007) (vacating former city councilor’s four-month 

sentence for Hobbs Act extortion and false statements offenses, which sentence varied 

downwardly 88% from a Guidelines range of 31 to 44 months, where the variance was premised 

significantly on the collateral consequences of conviction faced by the defendant), vacated on 

other grounds by 552 U.S. 1173 (2008); id. at 106-07 (noting that giving substantial variances in 

sentencing to white collar defendants who “often have achieved more tangible successes than 
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other defendants . . . will inevitably lead to sentencing courts treating white collar defendants 

more leniently (in the relative sense) simply because of their societal status -- a result that would 

be contrary to one of Congress’ primary objectives in enacting the current federal sentencing 

scheme”); United States v. Rattoballi, 452 F.3d 127, 135 (2d Cir. 2006) (noting that “[e]very 

convicted felon suffers from the indignity and ill-repute associated with a criminal conviction,” 

and that reliance on such so-called “collateral consequences is contrary to 18 U.S.C. § 

3553(a)(6), which calls for a reduction in unwarranted disparities among similarly situated 

defendants”).  Moreover, the fact that Richardson was a prominent individual in the world of 

college basketball and that his criminal activities have been widely reported on in the sports 

media likewise does not justify a lesser sentence. See, e.g., United States v. Cutler, 520 F.3d 136. 

171 (2d Cir. 2008).   

CONCLUSION 

 For the aforementioned reasons, the Government respectfully submits that a Guidelines 

sentence is appropriate.   

 

Dated: New York, New York 
 May 31, 2019           
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
      GEOFFREY S. BERMAN 
      United States Attorney 
 

By:      s/ Noah Solowiejczyk                              
Robert L. Boone 
Noah Solowiejczyk 
Eli J. Mark 

      Assistant United States Attorneys 
      (212) 637-2208/2473/2431 
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1401 E. University Blvd., Room 103 

P.O. Box 210066 

Tucson, AZ 85721-0066 

 

Ofc: 520-621-3175 

Fax: 520-621-9001 

 

 

May 22, 2019 

 

Honorable Edgardo Ramos 
United States District Judge 
Southern District of New York 
500 Pearl Street 
New York, NY  10007 
 
 Re: United States v. Emanuel “Book” Richardson  

  Criminal No. 17-cr-00684-ECR 

 

Dear Judge Ramos: 
 
 As Senior Vice President for Legal Affairs and General Counsel for the University of  
Arizona, I am writing this letter on behalf of our institution in connection with the forthcoming 
sentencing of Emanuel “Book” Richardson.  I ask the Court to kindly consider the information 
below as you determine a fair, just, and appropriate sentence for Mr. Richardson. 
 
 The University of Arizona is a world-class public institution of higher learning which 
graduated its first class in 1895.  The University now enrolls over 45,000 undergraduate and 
graduate students on its main campus in Tucson, Arizona, and in satellite locations in Phoenix 
and elsewhere within our state.  In addition to an emphasis on excellence within our academic 
programs, the University takes genuine pride in its nationally recognized intercollegiate athletics 
program.  Both the University President and Athletic Director are committed to operating an 
athletics program that strives for success but stresses integrity and a deeply rooted culture of 
compliance.  The University believes strongly in abiding by the rules of fair play and healthy 
competition with and against our sister institutions from the PAC-12 Conference and other 
universities from across the country.  We expect honesty, integrity, dedication, and hard work 
from every coach, staff member, and student-athlete associated with our programs.  
 
 Emanuel Richardson became an Assistant Men’s Basketball Coach at the University of 
Arizona in 2008.  In addition to his duties as a coach on the basketball court, Mr. Richardson 
devoted a substantial amount of his time at the University to recruiting young student-athletes 
from across the country.  The University was unaware at the time but has since come to learn 
that, in or around 2017, Mr. Richardson was struggling with various financial pressures and 
family medical concerns.  When faced with the unethical and dishonest overtures of Christian 
Dawkins, Munish Sood, and others, Mr. Richardson accepted $20,000 from these individuals.  
By doing so, Mr. Richardson not only violated his employment agreement with the University, 
he knowingly betrayed the trust that the institution placed in him to act with honesty, integrity, 
and with the best interests of the student-athletes at the forefront. 
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Page 2 

 

 Mr. Richardson’s actions caused real harm to the University of Arizona.  His arrest was 
devastating news to every student, coach, administrator, faculty, staff, trustee, and alum.  
Occurring as it did immediately before the start of the 2017-18 basketball season, news of the 
criminal charges against Mr. Richardson caused enormous pain and disruption not only to the 
University’s men’s basketball team but across the entire campus, as well.  Mr. Richardson’s 
actions have caused – and continue to cause – significant damage to the reputation of the 
University, it’s athletics program, and most specifically to a men’s basketball program that had 
previously enjoyed a stellar record of success, on and off the court.  Several highly regarded 
student-athletes de-committed from the University upon hearing this difficult news, and the 
recruitment effort for future players became substantially more challenging.  Over the past 18 
months, there has been a steady stream of unflattering articles and media reports, many of which 
unfortunately have been false or exaggerated but which, overall, have caused harm and 
embarrassment to this institution as well as demoralizing a very loyal alumni and fan base in the 
local community and across the country. The University is also facing the prospect of potentially 
significant sanctions and penalties from the NCAA flowing from the unlawful actions involved 
in this case. 
  
 There have been legal and financial ramifications as well.  We have responded to trial 
and grand jury subpoenas and provided extensive records to the U.S. Attorney’s Office, and 
provided whatever assistance we could to support the Government’s efforts to investigate and 
prosecute the charged criminal conduct.  The University has also hired outside legal counsel at 
significant expense to conduct internal reviews and investigations, and to guide the institution 
through an investigation by the NCAA Enforcement staff, which is just now getting underway in 
the aftermath of the criminal trial.  As we have to date, we intend to fully cooperate with the 
NCAA, to be transparent, and to provide whatever assistance may be necessary for the 
Association to fully ascertain the actions of Mr. Richardson and determine the extent to which 
NCAA rules and bylaws may have been violated.  The University has been, and will continue to 
be, zealous in our efforts to maintain a culture of integrity and compliance on our campus and 
within our athletics program. 
 
 It should be noted that, based on all the information presently known to us, we believe 
that none of the $20,000 in funds paid to Mr. Richardson was ever paid to any student-athlete or 
prospective student-athlete.  Additionally, Mr. Richardson recently met with the University’s 
principal outside counsel and me and expressed his remorse, acceptance of responsibility, and 
the recognition that his failure of judgment caused significant harm to the University community, 
as well as to himself and his family.  We appreciated his openness, candor, and gesture of 
goodwill. 
 

As an institution, we believe in redemption and seeing the good in people – even in the 
most challenging of situations.  And while this situation has been challenging, indeed, we do not 
make excuses for Mr. Richardson.  He was wrong, he has admitted his guilt, he should be held 
accountable for his actions, and he deserves some form of punishment.  We trust that the Court 
will proceed with fairness and compassion in sentencing Mr. Richardson. 
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On behalf of the University of Arizona, I wish to thank the Court for taking the time to 

read and consider this letter.  I am prepared to respond to any further inquiries that the Court may 
have. 

 
      Sincerely,  
 

 
 
      Laura Todd Johnson 
      Senior Vice President for Legal Affairs 

     and General Counsel 
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